QUEENSLAND INDUSTRIAL RELATIONS COMMISSION

Industrial Relations Act 1999 - s. 156 - certification of an agreement

Rockhampton Regional Council Certified Agreement 2011 - External Employees

Matter No. CA/2012/16

Commissioner Thompson 20 April 2012

CERTIFICATE

This matter coming on for hearing before the Commission on 20 April 2012 the Commission certifies the following written agreement:

Rockhampton Regional Council Certified Agreement 2011 - External Employees - CA/2012/16

Made between:

Rockhampton Regional Council

AND

Automotive, Metals, Engineering, Printing and Kindred Industries Industrial Union of Employees, Queensland;

Federated Engine Drivers' and Firemens' Association of Queensland, Union of Employees;

Local Government Association of Queensland Ltd;

Plumbers & Gasfitters Employees' Union Queensland, Union of Employees;

The Australian Workers' Union of Employees, Queensland;

The Construction, Forestry, Mining & Energy, Industrial Union of Employees, Queensland;

The Electrical Trades Union of Employees Queensland; and

Transport Workers' Union of Australia, Union of Employees (Queensland Branch).

The agreement was certified by the Commission on 20 April 2012 and shall operate from 20 April 2012 until its nominal expiry on 16 December 2014.

This agreement replaces Rockhampton Regional Council Enterprise Bargaining Certified Agreement External Employees 2008 (CA/2009/9).

By the Commission.

Commissioner Thompson

ROCKHAMPTON REGIONAL COUNCIL EXTERNAL CERTIFIED AGREEMENT 2011

TABLE OF CONTENTS

6.8.

1. 1.1.	ADMINISTRATIVE ARRANGEMENTS Title
1.2.	Parties Bound
1.3.	Date and Period of Operation
1.4.	Relationship to Parent Awards
1.5.	Objectives of the agreement
1.6.	Definitions
1.7.	Posting of the Agreement
2. 2.1.	EMPLOYMENT SECURITY & WELLBEING Employment Security
2.2.	Consultation Processes
2.3.	Contracting Out
2.4.	Utility Worker
2.5.	Traffic Control
2.6.	Service Increment Payments
2.7.	Developing a Learning Culture
2.8.	Transition to Retirement Arrangements
2.9.	Single Bargaining Unit
3. 3.1.	JOINT CONSULTATIVE COMMITTEE AND DISPUTE RESOLUTION PROCESS Joint Consultative Committee
3.2.	Monitoring of Agreement
3.3.	Dispute Resolution Procedure
4. 4.1.	EMPLOYEE BENEFITS Employee Assistance Program
4.2.	Wage/Salary Increase
4.3.	Salary Sacrifice
4.4.	Study Assistance
4.5.	Professional Association, Licence and Registration Fees
5. 5.1.	HOURS OF WORK Hours of Work
5.2.	Accrued Rostered Days Off
5.3.	Call-Out
5.4.	Special Work Arrangements
6. 6.1.	LEAVE ENTITLEMENTS Sick/Carer's Leave
6.2.	Unpaid Leave
6.3.	Absenteeism Management
6.4.	Annual Leave
6.5.	Long Service Leave
6.6.	Paid Parental Leave
6.7	Rereavement Leave

Emergency Services Leave (SES/Rural Fire Brigades/QAS) and Armed Services Leave

6.9.	Natural Disaster Leave
7. 7.1.	WORKING ARRANGEMENTS Fatigue Rest Provision
7.2.	End of Year Closedown
7.3.	Work/Life Balance
7.4.	Time Off In Lieu of Payment for Overtime
7.5.	Make Up Time
7.6.	Change in Work Location
8. 8.1.	MISCELLANEOUS Transmission of Business
8.2.	Employment Practices
8.3.	Redundancy/Retrenchment Arrangements
9. 9.1.	ALLOWANCES On-Call Allowance
9.2.	Shift Allowance
9.3.	Living Away Allowance
9.4.	Exhumations Allowance
9.5.	First Aid Allowance
9.6.	Meal Allowance During Overtime
9.7.	Repair of Unclean Vehicles and Plant Allowance
9.8.	Live Sewer
9.9.	Working with Synthetic Fluids and Oils Allowance
9.10.	Working in the Rain
9.11.	Annualised Allowances
9.12.	Travel Costs
9.13.	Multi-Skilled Allowance
9.14.	Mixed Function
10. 10.1.	UNION REPRESENTATION Union Recognition
10.2.	Responsibilities and Rights of Union Delegates
10.3.	Trade Union Training Leave
10.4.	Right of Entry
10.5.	Access to Union Officials
10.6.	Union Fees Paid by Payroll Deduction
10.7.	Access and Facilities
11. APP1 1.	NO EXTRA CLAIMS ENDIX 1 – REDUNDANCY/RETRENCHMENT ARRANGEMENTS Application
2.	Definitions
3.	Objectives
4.	Notice Period
5.	Consultation with Relevant Unions
6.	Exceptions
7.	Dispute Resolution Procedure

- 8. Redeployment
- 9. Redundancy/Retrenchment
- 10. Early Separation Incentive Payment (ESIP)
- 11. Relocation Expenses

APPENDIX 2 – REMUNERATION CLASSIFICATION STRUCTURE

APPENDIX 3 - MULTI-SKILLED ALLOWANCE

1. Typical Duties by Similar Levels

APPENDIX 4 – TEAM LEADER/LEADING HAND MATRIX

1. ADMINISTRATIVE ARRANGEMENTS

1.1. Title

- 1.1.1. This Agreement shall be known as the Rockhampton Regional Council Certified Agreement 2011 External Employees.
- 1.1.2. This Agreement supersedes and replaces all previous Enterprise Bargaining Agreements and other industrial arrangements that had application to Rockhampton Regional Council and its external employees.

1.2. Parties Bound

- 1.2.1. The parties bound by this agreement are:
 - Rockhampton Regional Council

And, employees who are members of the following unions or are eligible to become so and for whom a classification contained in this Agreement applies:

- AMWU Automotive, Metals, Engineering, Printing and Kindred Industries Union, trading as Australian Manufacturing Workers' Union (ABN: 59 459 725 116)
- AWU The Australian Workers' Union of Employees, Queensland (ABN: 54 942 536 069)
- CFMEU The Construction, Forestry, Mining and Energy, Industrial Union of Employees, Queensland (ABN: 128 985 292 51)
- FEDFA Federated Engine Drivers and Firemen's Association of Queensland, Union of Employees (ABN: 128 985 292 51)
- ETU The Electrical Trades Union of Employees, Queensland (ABN: 71 584 779 039)
- PGEU Plumbers and Gasfitters Employees' Union, Queensland, Union of Employees (ABN: 51 918 867 235)
- TWU Transport Workers' Union of Employees, Union of Employees (Queensland Branch) (ABN: 80 519 643 130)

1.3. Date and Period of Operation

- 1.3.1. This Agreement shall be effective from the date of certification by QIRC and shall continue to have effect for three (3) years from the date of certification or until varied or terminated in accordance with the relevant legislation in place at the time. Where this Agreement is not varied or terminated in accordance with the relevant legislation, it shall continue to have full effect following the 3rd anniversary, until it is varied or terminated.
- 1.3.2. The parties to this Agreement agree to have their respective logs of claims presented to commence negotiations for a new collective agreement at least six (6) months prior to the expiry of this Agreement, with the view to concluding the negotiations prior to the nominal expiry date of this Agreement. The nominal expiry date is 16 December 2014.

1.4. Relationship to Parent Awards

- 1.4.1. This Agreement shall be read and applied in conjunction with the terms of the Parent Awards listed below, as varied from time to time provided that where there is any inconsistency between this Agreement and the Awards listed below; this Agreement shall prevail to the extent of the inconsistency.
 - Building Trades Public Sector Award State 2002
 - Engineering Award State 2002
 - Local Government Employees' (excluding Brisbane City Council) Award State 2003
 - Training Wage Award State 2003

1.5. Objectives of the agreement

- 1.5.1. Provide a framework for working conditions and remuneration for employees of the employer for the period of this Agreement.
- 1.5.2. Provide a consultative environment for the employer, Council's Leadership Team, employees and their Unions to develop and engage in continuous improvement, efficient work practices and improved service delivery.

1.6. Definitions

- (a) Agreed when a matter is discussed or negotiated and then accepted by all relevant parties.
- (b) Continuous Shift Work shall mean a series of shifts where an employee is employed on a rotational basis on a 24 hour continuous shift operation over a period of 7 days per week.
- (c) Day for the purpose of On-Call Allowance, day is recognised as that period from an employees finishing time on one ordinary working day to the starting time of the next ordinary working day.
- (d) Employer shall have the same meaning as that cited in the *Local Government Act 2009*, i.e. Chief Executive Officer.
- (e) Immediate Family shall mean a spouse (including a former spouse, a de facto spouse and a former de facto spouse, spouse of the same sex) of the employee; and a child or an adult child (including an adopted child, a foster child, an ex-foster child, a step-child, step-grandchild or an ex-nuptial child), parent, grandparent, grandchild or sibling of the employee or spouse of the employee.
- (f) Nominated Representative shall mean a person nominated by an employee whether they are a union representative, delegate or support person.
- (g) Registered Health Professional shall mean a medical practitioner registered with the Medical Board of Queensland or similar registration authority.
- (h) QIRC shall mean the Queensland Industrial Relations Commission.
- (i) External staff shall mean employees who have application under these awards; Building Trades Public Sector Award State 2002; Engineering Award State 2002; and Local Government Employees' (excluding Brisbane City Council) Award State 2003.
- (j) The Act shall mean, except where otherwise stated, the *Industrial Relations Act 1999*.
- (k) Regular Basis for the purpose of the Multi-Skilled Allowance, regular basis shall mean 20% of ordinary time worked per week.

1.7. Posting of the Agreement

A true copy of this Agreement shall be displayed in the workplace with convenient access to employees.

2. EMPLOYMENT SECURITY & WELLBEING

2.1. Employment Security

2.1.1. The employer shall maintain a permanent workforce during the term of this Agreement and the employer is committed to job security for its permanent employees. Volunteers or other unpaid persons cannot be used to replace permanent positions.

2.2. Consultation Processes

2.2.1. Where the employer seeks to contract out or lease any of the employer functions and is required to go to the State Government for approval, the relevant Union/s shall be consulted as early as possible. Discussions shall take place before any steps are taken to call tenders or enter into any otherwise binding legal arrangements for the provision of services by an external provider.

2.3. Contracting Out

- 2.3.1. The employer reserves the right to contract out or to lease current services in the following circumstances:
 - in the event of shortages of skilled staff and resources; or
 - the lack of available infrastructure capital and the cost of providing technology; or
 - extraordinary or unforeseen circumstances; or
 - that it is in the public interest that such services should be contracted out.
- 2.3.2. During the life of this Agreement the employer will, where possible, minimise the contracting out or leasing of any works and services currently provided by the employer.
- 2.3.3. The Parties agree to work together to develop a procedure to identify employees skills and experience which may be utilised throughout Council for the purpose of out of hours work.

2.4. Utility Worker

- 2.4.1. The Parties will consult during the term of this Agreement to develop and describe an arrangement whereby employees, by agreement, may commit to work flexible hours and at multiple designated locations in an endeavour to allow the employer to utilise employees across agreed geographical areas of the Rockhampton Regional Council in order to streamline the process to gain desirable outcomes in an efficient and timely manner.
- 2.4.2. Such arrangements would be governed principally by current awards and agreements; however, these arrangements may vary the terms to equally compensate employees by way of a loading for the commitment to work under such an arrangement. If the parties successfully develop an arrangement during the term of this Agreement, a joint application shall be made to the QIRC to vary this Agreement to include the agreed terms only.

2.5. Traffic Control

2.5.1. During the life of this Agreement the relevant parties shall meet to develop a framework for the delivery of traffic control services through the establishment of an employee based skilled team with such team being structured as an entry level to the employer's workforce.

2.6. Service Increment Payments

2.6.1. Due to the task based philosophy of the State Awards and in recognition of continuing service to the employer and the skills and experience gained whilst employed by the employer an annual payment, recognising service, will be made in accordance with the schedule below, based upon the years of service with the employer or its predecessors.

Continuing Years of Service	Service Recognition Payment
(greater than)	(calculated on years of service)
5	\$6.00 per week
6	\$7.00 per week
7	\$8.00 per week
8	\$9.00 per week
9	\$10.00 per week
10	\$11.00 per week

2.6.2. Years of Service will be capped at the ten (10) year rate for those employees with service beyond that period. The payment will only apply to current employees and for whole years of service, and will be made at the first pay period in December each year. Years of service will be recognised at that time, including those which fall within the month of December.

Example:

- (a) an employee with 14 years of service would receive an annual gross payment as follows: 10 years: payment at \$11.00 per week x 52 weeks = \$572
- (b) an employee in their sixth (6) year of service would receive an annual gross payment as follows: 5 years: payment at \$6.00 per week x 52 weeks = \$312

2.7. Developing a Learning Culture

- 2.7.1. To assist the employer to most effectively meet current and future needs, the parties are committed to ongoing learning at both an organisational and individual level. The employer shall facilitate an environment that encourages employees to:
 - learn and apply new skills and knowledge;
 - adapt to new ways of working and;
 - participate in initiatives that enhance productivity; and,
 - continue the established custom and practice of mentoring employees in the day to day development of on the job skills and learning.

2.8. Transition to Retirement Arrangements

- 2.8.1. Transition to retirement arrangements may be available to those employees considering full time retirement from the workforce and who may consider a transition period to retirement. This is in recognition of the need to facilitate the transfer of corporate knowledge, skills and provide guidance and mentoring to other employees prior to retirement, for the mutual benefit of the employer and employee.
- 2.8.2. Any such arrangements between the employer and employee will be documented in writing confirming the agreed pattern of work required, which may include (as applicable):
 - weeks to be worked over the period;
 - minimum ordinary hours per week;
 - days on which the work is to be performed including the daily starting and finishing times; and
 - a duty statement for the period.

These arrangements may be varied by mutual agreement between the employer and employee and any agreed amendments are to be documented.

2.8.3. All leave entitlement balances accrued immediately prior to the approved Transition to Retirement arrangement will be maintained without reduction, except where the employee utilises approved leave. On commencement of the arrangement, all leave will accrue in accordance with the relevant hours of work clauses within this Agreement and/or applicable parent Award.

2.9. Single Bargaining Unit

For the purposes of negotiating and implementing the next certified agreement, the parties to this Agreement will establish a Single Bargaining Unit, in accordance with the Wage Fixing Principles of the QIRC.

3. JOINT CONSULTATIVE COMMITTEE AND DISPUTE RESOLUTION PROCESS

3.1. Joint Consultative Committee

- 3.1.1. In order to facilitate ongoing harmonious industrial relations the parties to this Agreement shall maintain a Joint Consultative Committee (JCC) comprising of employees, Union officials and management nominees in accordance with the terms of reference developed and agreed to by the JCC.
- 3.1.2. The group shall meet on an "as needs" basis but not less than four (4) times per year to consider all industrial relations matters including, but not limited to:
 - workplace issues that have the potential to impact on employees, including work units, divisions or the entire organisation, e.g. workloads; and,
 - monitor and review implementation of this Agreement; and,
 - undertake specific responsibilities and activities in accordance with this Agreement; and,
 - any other matter raised by Union or management which impacts on the workforce.

Where the employer is considering reviewing any over award payments which may adversely impact an employee, the employer shall consult with the affected employee, and where requested representatives of the relevant Union and present for consideration all relevant information prior to any adjustments occurring.

3.1.3. Change consultation sections/clauses of QIRC's Termination, Change and Redundancy Policy shall apply.

3.2. Monitoring of Agreement

3.2.1. To ensure consistent application, the employer commits to providing education and/or awareness training to all employees regarding the intent and application of this Agreement within three (3) months of the date of certification.

Note: Any concerns regarding the application of this Agreement shall be identified as soon as practicable by providing evidence or perceived evidence of the inconsistency to the Executive Manager, PPW or his/her nominee to enable clarification or referral to the JCC.

3.3. Dispute Resolution Procedure

- 3.3.1. The matters to be dealt with in this procedure shall include all disputes between an employee and the employer in respect to any industrial matter and all other matters that the Parties agree on, and are specified within this Agreement. The principle objective of this procedure is to resolve workplace disputes without causing substantial damage to either party by way of industrial action or loss of income.
- 3.3.2. To this end, the Parties shall be committed to avoid stoppages of work, lockouts or any other bans or limitations on the performance of work, while the procedures of negotiation and conciliation are being followed. Such procedures shall apply to a single employee or to any number of employees. Employees shall be entitled to be represented by a person or an organisation of their choice throughout the following process.
- 3.3.3. In the event of an employee having a dispute, the employee shall in the first instance attempt to resolve the matter with the immediate supervisor who shall respond to such request as soon as reasonably practicable under the circumstances. Where the dispute concerns alleged actions of the immediate supervisor the employee/s may bypass this level in the procedure.
- 3.3.4. If the dispute is not resolved under clause 3.3.3, the employee or the employee's representative may refer the matter to the next higher level of management for discussion. Such discussion should, where practicable, take place within 24 hours after the request by the employee or the employee's representative.
- 3.3.5. If the dispute is still unresolved after discussions mentioned in clause 3.3.4 the matter shall be reported to senior management/Chief Executive Officer.
- 3.3.6. Emphasis shall be placed on a negotiated settlement. If the negotiation process is exhausted without the dispute being resolved, the Parties may jointly or individually refer the matter to the QIRC. Once referred, the QIRC shall exercise its powers of conciliation and arbitration.
- 3.3.7. Whilst all of the above procedure is being followed, normal work shall continue except in the case of a genuine safety issue. Where a genuine safety issue is identified, the employee shall not refuse a direction to work at another location.

- 3.3.8. The status quo existing before the emergence of the dispute is to continue whilst the above procedure is being followed.
- 3.3.9. A determination made by the QIRC, subject to the parties' right of appeal under *the Act*, shall be final and binding on all parties to the dispute.
- 3.3.10. Discussions at any stage of the procedure shall not be unreasonably delayed by any party, subject to acceptance that some matters may be of such complexity or importance that it may take a reasonable period of time for the appropriate response to be made. If genuine discussions are unreasonably delayed or hindered, it shall be open to any party to give notification of the dispute in accordance with the provisions of *the Act*.
- 3.3.11. There shall be a commitment by the Parties to adhere strictly to this procedure. The Parties shall give the earliest possible advice by one party to the other of any issue or problem, which may give rise to a dispute. Throughout all steps of the procedure, all relevant facts shall be clearly identified and recorded.

4. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

4.1. Employee Assistance Program

4.1.1. In the interests of maintaining the wellbeing of employees and their families, the employer shall provide access to and pay for a maximum of three (3) counselling and pastoral services for all employees and the immediate members of their household. This service can be accessed directly by employees or through referral by their manager. Additional counselling and pastoral services may be approved by the employer.

4.2. Wage/Salary Increase

- 4.2.1. Remuneration rates for employees who have their terms and conditions of employment regulated by this Agreement are detailed in Appendix 2 to this Agreement. The schedule also provides information of wage increases over the life of this Agreement.
- 4.2.2. Any decision of the QIRC that has the effect of adjusting the ordinary hourly rates of classifications of any Award mentioned in clause 1.4 or any other Award covering employees covered by this Agreement shall not apply.

4.3. Salary Sacrifice

- 4.3.1. The employer shall endeavour to provide employees with salary sacrifice opportunities to maximise their remuneration benefits. The provision of such opportunities shall be subject to legal limitations imposed by federal and state legislation.
- 4.3.2. The employer reserves the right to withdraw the facility if changes in the relevant laws mean that the employer would incur an additional cost or the scheme itself becomes unlawful as a result of changes to the relevant laws. Any fringe benefit tax attracted by the salary sacrifice must be paid by the employee and shall not result in an increase to the total remuneration package.
- 4.3.3. Other than facilitating the salary sacrifice arrangements, the employer shall not be responsible for any other aspects of salary sacrifice which would include, but not be limited to, any loss sustained by the employee. Accordingly, while not a necessity the employer strongly recommends employees take financial advice prior to entering into any such arrangements from a qualified financial advisor.
- 4.3.4. Each request shall be processed on a case-by-case basis. Once a salary sacrifice agreement is entered into, the employee is required to continue with the agreement for the remainder of the fiscal year or apply for a review of the agreement on the grounds of personal hardship.

4.4. Study Assistance

- 4.4.1. The employer encourages employees to undertake further education and development which enhances their personal and career prospects and is directly relevant to their role or potential career path with the employer.
- 4.4.2. To be eligible for study assistance, the applicant must be a permanent employee with 12 months satisfactory service with the employer
- 4.4.3. Part-time employees will be reimbursed on a pro-rata basis.

Example

Where a part-time employee is engaged for 20 hours per week, they will be entitled to 20/38th of the allowance.

- 4.4.4. The following criteria are considered in determining whether assistance will be provided:
 - the applicant's contribution to the employer in terms of their past work performance and their potential capability.
 - the relevance of the proposed course of study to the applicant's current or possible future work roles, including the employee's level of responsibility.
 - the overall cost in relation to likely benefits to the employer.
- 4.4.5. All reimbursements will require evidence of successful subject completion being provided to the employer.
- 4.4.6. Study assistance will be provided based on the following categories:
 - a) Category 1 A course undertaken as a condition of employment. For example a Cadetship would fall under this category. The employer shall reimburse all compulsory charges in relation to the course.
 - b) Category 2 A course, which is directly relevant to the employee's area of work, and the skills or qualification determined by the employer is deemed appropriate in that area of work.

Reimbursement of up to \$700 per unit towards course fees. For employees undertaking post-graduate studies, reimbursement shall be up to 80% of course fees to a maximum of \$1,200 per unit towards course fees.

c) Category 3 – A course demonstrated to the satisfaction of the Departmental General Manager to be directly relevant to the employer.

Reimbursement of course fees shall be a combined maximum amount of \$500 per unit.

4.5. Professional Association, Licence and Registration Fees

4.5.1. Where an employee must hold a registration or maintain membership of a professional association and licences as part of their employment, the employer shall pay the fees for membership or registration renewal.

For clarification, this clause does not cover 'C' class driver's licences, however it shall cover such things as renewals for truck driver's licences as well as mobile and fixed plant operators tickets, where such costs are in addition to any costs for the maintenance of a 'C' class driver's licence.

Example: Where the renewal fee is the same as the 'C' endorsed licence irrespective of the additional endorsements the employee will not be reimbursed for the cost of the licence renewal. The employer will pay for licence upgrades for example (MR to HR) with these costs representing the test fees.

5. HOURS OF WORK

5.1. Hours of Work

- 5.1.1. Full-time employees shall be required to work an average of 38 ordinary hours per week as well as a reasonable amount of overtime as maybe required from time to time. These hours may be worked on any day of the week Monday to Sunday on an agreed basis. Where an employee works their ordinary hours on a Saturday or Sunday or outside of the below scope of hours, the provisions of the relevant Award, including the relevant allowances, loadings and penalties, shall apply.
- 5.1.2. An employee's ordinary hours shall be worked between the hours of 5:00am and 7:00pm with the provisions of the relevant Award, including the relevant allowances, loadings and penalties being applicable.
- 5.1.3. The starting and finishing times of each employee shall be agreed where possible between the employee and employer; however where agreement can not be reached such times shall be determined by the employer within the above scope of hours detailed in clause 5.1.2. Once set, the starting and finishing times of a group of employees or an individual employee may be staggered and/or altered with two week's notice by the

employer. Provided that where there is agreement between the employee/s involved starting and finishing times may be staggered without the provision of notice.

5.1.4. Where it is mutually agreed between an employee or group of employees and their supervisor, the employee/s may delay their meal break up to a maximum of 2 hours, without penalty. The normal meal break shall be taken on the completion of the task at hand.

Example: An employee works any five days in seven, in this example from Wednesday to Sunday, their total rate of pay would be as follows:

Wednesday to Friday inclusive	24 hours at ordinary hourly rate
Saturday – First 3 hours @ 1.5 times and then 5 hours @	14.5 hours at ordinary hourly rate
double time	
Sunday – All 8 hours @ double time	16 hours at ordinary hourly rate
Total	54.5 hours at ordinary hourly rate

5.2. Accrued Rostered Days Off

- 5.2.1. The Parties to this Agreement recognise the importance of providing ongoing services to rate payers. To this end it is agreed that employees shall work an amount of additional hours per day that shall be accrued to allow the employee to have one Rostered Day Off (RDO) in each ten (10) day working cycle.
- 5.2.2. On receipt of two (2) day's notice and on an agreed basis where possible, an employee may be required to work on a RDO without attracting penalty rates. The RDO shall then be taken at a mutually agreeable day between the employee and their supervisor.
- 5.2.3. If a statutory holiday falls on the day on which the employee is rostered off, such employee shall take the RDO on the next business day or at a mutually convenient time if agreed to between the employee and their supervisor.
- 5.2.4. It shall be clearly understood and agreed that rostering of employees to accommodate the nine (9) day fortnight will be prepared in such a manner as to maintain existing service levels and efficiency. This may result in a relatively strict roster, which will not always accommodate individual employee preferences as to which days are rostered for them; however the employer will not unreasonably deny an employee's preference.
- 5.2.5. Any employee who falls sick on a RDO shall not receive any further day in lieu thereof.
- 5.2.6. An employee may bank up to a maximum of ten (10) days, whether initiated by either the employer or employee.
- 5.2.7. Banked RDOs shall be taken at a time mutually agreed between the employee and the supervisor. The banked RDOs shall be taken within six (6) months of the date on which the first RDO was accrued.
- 5.2.8. If the banked RDOs are not taken within six (6) months, employee initiated banked RDOs shall be paid out at single time and employer initiated shall be paid out at appropriate penalty rates.

5.3. Call-Out

5.3.1. A call-out will occur when an employee, whether on-call or not, is required to leave their place of residence or another location which is not a place of work when receiving the call and are required to attend a site/location in order to assess and/or rectify the situation which gave rise to the call-out. The initial call-out for a day will be paid at a minimum rate of four (4) hours pay at the appropriate penalty rate, and any subsequent call-out on that day will be paid at a minimum of two (2) hours pay at the appropriate penalty rate.

Example: An employee is called out at 7:00pm to attend to an incident and should that incident be dealt within 1.5 hours and the employee returns home and then receives another call-out at 9:00pm and the employee completes this incident within one (1) hour – the employees will receive a total of six (6) hours at the appropriate rates of pay to cover both of those call-outs. If only the first call-out occurred a minimum of four (4) hours is payable at the appropriate rates of pay.

5.4. Special Work Arrangements

5.4.1. The Parties are currently negotiating Special Work Arrangements for sections of it's operations and it is intended that these will be finalised by 31 January 2012 with appropriate certification to occur as soon as practicable after this date.

6. LEAVE ENTITLEMENTS

6.1. Sick/Carer's Leave

- 6.1.1. Sick/carer's leave is unlike annual or long service leave in that it is conditional upon an employee being ill or injured to the point of being unfit for duty or being required to care or provide support to a member of the employee's immediate family or household. It is an insurance to protect the employee and their family against hardship should the employee be unable to continue their work and should only be utilised when an employee is ill or injured or is required to provide care or support.
- 6.1.2. Where an employee is unable to attend work due to illness, injury or the need to provide care for an ill family member or household they are required to contact their Supervisor directly by telephone and inform them of their absence as soon as practicable.

For the purpose of the clause "as soon as practical" shall mean contact within half an hour after the employee's starting time. Text messages, emails or notification to a third party, such as another employee, is not acceptable. In contacting their Supervisor the employee must advise the employer of the period, or expected duration of the sick/carer's leave.

- 6.1.3. Full-time employees shall accrue sick/carer's leave at the rate of one (1) day per month in the first 12 months of employment, thereafter the rate of 15 days per year for each year of continuous service with the employer. Part-time and fixed-term employees shall accrue sick/carer's leave on a pro-rata basis relative to the ordinary hours worked. Employees shall accrue this type of leave progressively during a year of service. Unused sick/carer's leave is cumulative from year to year; however it shall not be paid out on termination.
- 6.1.4. Due to the nature of the employment contract casual employees shall not accrue any paid sick/carer's leave.
- 6.1.5. To be entitled to be paid sick/carer's leave an employee must provide the employer with notice as required under clause 6.1.2 as well as a medical certificate or other document suitable such as a statutory declaration to the employer stating that the employee is ill, injured or is required to provide care and support to an immediate family member or household. Documentary evidence is required for all sick/carer's leave claimed:
 - in excess of two (2) days; and/or
 - when sick leave is taken immediately preceding or directly following a public holiday, rostered or accrued day off work.
- 6.1.6. Where a statutory declaration is provided in support of a claim for paid sick/carer's leave, such statutory declaration shall be limited to four (4) days. Following this time a medical certificate from a registered health professional, as defined in clause 1.6 of this Agreement, is required.

To avoid doubt this means that a statutory declaration may only be used for a maximum period of four (4) consecutive working days. After this time a medical certificate is required.

- 6.1.7. Sick/carer's leave may be taken in a minimum of two (2) hour blocks then hourly blocks thereafter to attend medical appointment or accompany an immediate family member to a medical appointment.
- 6.1.8. An employee who becomes ill whilst on annual leave and/or long service leave shall be paid sick leave and a corresponding amount of time added to the employee's annual leave or long service leave entitlement, provided that:
 - A registered medical practitioner certifies that the employee would be unfit to perform normal duties for a period of not less than five (5) working days; and
 - The employee notifies the employer as soon as practicable.
- 6.1.9. An employee in receipt of worker's compensation payments may opt to use sick leave accruals to make up the difference between payments received from Local Government WorkCare and the employee's average weekly earnings which shall be calculated by:
 - Taking the employee's weekly wages for the three (3) months prior to the injury and averaging these wages to devise a standard rate. The difference between payment by Local Government WorkCare and this calculated rate shall be the gross amount to be paid by the employer to the injured employee.

• The amount debited against the employee's sick leave accrual shall be on the basis of the hours debited = additional payment divided by the employee's ordinary hourly rate.

6.2. Unpaid Leave

- 6.2.1. Employees shall be entitled to apply for a period of unpaid leave of absence from work. Unpaid absence from work shall fall into three (3) streams as detailed below:
 - a) Stream 1 shall mean any unpaid leave for less than six (6) months;
 - b) Stream 2 shall mean any unpaid leave from between six (6) and 12 months;
 - c) Stream 3 shall mean any unpaid leave in excess of 12 months.
- 6.2.2. Any requests for unpaid leave under Stream 1 shall require the employee to provide their Strategic Manager with a written request for unpaid leave with a minimum of four (4) weeks' notice or as otherwise agreed. Written requests are to provide full details of the reason for the leave as well as the time required.
- 6.2.3. Any requests for unpaid leave under Stream 2 shall require the employee to provide their General Manager with a written request for unpaid leave with a minimum of six (6) weeks' notice or as otherwise agreed. Written requests are to provide full details of the reason for the leave as well as the time required.
- 6.2.4. Any requests for unpaid leave under Stream 3 shall require the employee to provide the Chief Executive Officer with a written request for unpaid leave with a minimum of eight (8) weeks' notice or as otherwise agreed. Written requests are to provide full details of the reason for the leave as well as the time required.
- 6.2.5. Periods of unpaid leave shall not break the employee's continuity of service; however the period of unpaid leave shall not count towards the accrual of any entitlements that would usually apply statutorily to the employee.

6.3. Absenteeism Management

- 6.3.1. The Parties to this Agreement recognise that absenteeism and/or abuse of sick leave is a controllable overhead and abuse of this benefit is detrimental to the operations of the employer in respect to services to rate payers. In recognising this, the Parties have agreed on the following procedure to manage sick leave abuse and absenteeism.
- 6.3.2. This procedure is designed to curtail sick leave abuse and absenteeism by employees who are absent from work and who are not genuinely unfit for duty and is to operate notwithstanding other provisions of this Agreement.
- 6.3.3. The employer shall from time to time review employee sick leave records with a view to establishing a list of employees who have a record of attendance which gives cause for reasonable concern.
- 6.3.4. Any employee with an unsatisfactory record shall be interviewed by the employer. The employee shall be notified at the time of setting the interview time and date that they are entitled to have an advocate or a support person of their choice present at the initial and any subsequent meeting. If the discussion does not provide satisfactory reason/s for the employee's absences, then a letter of warning is to be sent to the employee and appropriate actions for improvement documented.
- 6.3.5. If no improvement is observed in the next period, the employee is to be again interviewed and if the interview results in unsatisfactory reasons being given, then a second letter of warning is to be sent to the employee, also indicating proof of illness or a certificate may be required for any subsequent absence. This letter of warning shall also inform the employee that unless their attendance record improves further disciplinary action, up to and including termination of employment may follow.
- 6.3.6. If the above action still results in unsatisfactory attendance the employee shall need to provide the employer with reasons why their employment should not be terminated.
- 6.3.7. The above procedure does not operate to withdraw the employer's right to take action against any employee if that employee is found guilty of filling out a false sick leave, carer's leave pay application form and claiming sick leave pay when that employee was not genuinely on sick leave. Such action is fraudulent misrepresentation which may justify the summary dismissal of an employee.

6.4. Annual Leave

6.4.1. Accruals

- 6.4.1.1. Full-time employees who work 38 ordinary hours per week shall be entitled to 152 hours of paid annual leave at the completion of each year of service. Annual leave is accrued proportionately on a fortnightly basis.
- 6.4.1.2. Part-time and fixed-term employees shall accrue annual leave on a pro-rata basis according to the employee's ordinary hours of work. Due to the nature of the employment contract casual employees shall not accrue any annual leave.
- 6.4.1.3. Where an employee is engaged on continuous shiftwork as defined in clause 1.6 of this Agreement and works 38 ordinary hours per week they shall be entitled to an additional 38 ordinary hours of paid annual leave at the completion of each year of service. Annual leave is accrued proportionately on a fortnightly basis.
- 6.4.1.4. Provided that where an employee does not work the full year on continuous shift work, they shall be entitled to a pro-rata benefit for the time worked on continuous shiftwork.

6.4.2. Access to Annual Leave

Annual leave shall be exclusive of any statutory holiday that occurs during the period. Where an employee accrues in excess of two (2) year's entitlements of annual leave the employer may direct the employee to take such leave on the provision of two (2) weeks' notice. An employee may elect, with the consent of the employer, to take annual leave in single day periods not exceeding five (5) occurrences in any calendar year or as otherwise agreed.

6.4.3. Notice of Taking of Annual leave

Employees shall be required to provide the employer with at least two (2) weeks written notice of their intention to take annual leave unless otherwise agreed. The employer shall attempt to comply with an employee's request for annual leave and where mutual agreement cannot be gained or operational requirements dictate, the employer may refuse to grant the request for annual leave.

6.4.4. Payment

All monies owing to an employee for annual leave purposes shall be paid to the employee incrementally on their usual pay day, unless other arrangements are mutually agreed between the employee and the employer. Payment for annual leave shall attract an additional payment of a leave loading of 17.5% on the employee's ordinary hourly rate of pay.

Should an employee's employment be terminated under the terms of this Agreement prior to the employee working a full year, the employee shall be paid any annual leave they have accrued in line with this agreement.

6.4.5. Annual Leave Reduction Scheme

Where an employee has accrued an excessive amount of annual leave being greater than two (2) years of entitlements the employee shall be required to participate in a leave reduction scheme. Such scheme shall require the employee to reduce their accrued bank of annual leave over an agreed period of time.

6.5. Long Service Leave

- 6.5.1. All permanent employees of the employer shall accrue a long service leave entitlement at the rate of 1.3 weeks for each year of continuous service and shall not be payable prior to seven (7) years continuous service. Part time and long term casual employees shall be entitled to long service leave on a pro rata basis in relation to the ordinary hours worked.
- 6.5.2. Long service leave may be taken on a pro rata basis on the pro rata accruals whilst in service after completion of seven (7) years continuous service with local government in Queensland.
- 6.5.3. Accrued long service leave may be taken in minimum lots of four (4) days at one time.
- 6.5.4. Where an employee has accrued long service leave in excess of 26 weeks long service leave, the employee shall be required to discuss participation in a leave reduction scheme. Such scheme may require the employee to reduce their accrued bank of long service leave over an agreed period of time.

6.6. Paid Parental Leave

- 6.6.1. Employees will be eligible to apply for paid parental leave after 12 months continuous service with the employer.
- 6.6.2. Part-time employees are eligible for paid parental leave on a pro-rata basis of the average weekly hours for the preceding 12 months.
- 6.6.3. All entitlements will accrue during this period of paid leave.
- 6.6.4. Paid parental leave shall be taken at full pay.
- 6.6.5. Such absences for parental leave shall be supported by appropriate medical documentation.
- 6.6.6. After 12 months continuous service, female employees are entitled to 14 weeks maternity leave with full pay.
- 6.6.7. An employee will be entitled to 14 weeks paid leave where the pregnancy of the employee, not then on maternity leave, terminates after 28 weeks, other than by the birth of a living child.
- 6.6.8. The remaining maternity leave may be taken as leave without pay, or take the option of having any accrued annual leave paid at full pay to a maximum of 52 weeks.
- 6.6.9. Employees who return from maternity leave shall be entitled to seek part time employment for a period of 12 months. There will be no eligibility for part time loading.
- 6.6.10. After 12 months continuous service, staff members are entitled to a total of two (2) weeks paid parental leave in connection with the birth or stillbirth of their partner's child or adoption of a child.
- 6.6.11. Employees, other than employees taking paid parental leave, who will be the principal carer of the child, will be entitled to ten (10) weeks paid leave for adopted children, as from the date of adoption.

6.7. Bereavement Leave

- 6.7.1. Employees (other than casual employees) may be granted up to five (5) days bereavement leave, on full pay on each occasion, where the deceased person was a member of the immediate family of the employee.
- 6.7.2. This shall be subject to the production of evidence of death satisfactory to the employer, or the completion of a statutory declaration under the provisions of the Oaths Act 1867.
- 6.7.3. Periods of a longer duration shall be subject to approval by the relevant General Manager and shall be determined on an individual, case-by-case basis.

6.8. Emergency Services Leave (SES/Rural Fire Brigades/QAS) and Armed Services Leave

- 6.8.1. The employer supports employees who participate in the above activities and shall provide paid leave in addition to annual leave for those employees registered with the employer as belonging to an Armed Service, subject to approval by the relevant General Manager.
- 6.8.2. Where employees are registered members of the Emergency Services and required to attend an emergency there shall be no loss of pay. Where members are required to attend an emergency they must obtain approval from their immediate supervisor at the earliest opportunity.

6.9. Natural Disaster Leave

- 6.9.1. If an event beyond an employee's reasonable control prevents an employee from travelling from their normal place of residence to their normal place of work, then line management may approve "Natural Disaster Leave" paid at ordinary time only. Events may include but are not limited to flooding and bush fires.
- 6.9.2. Approval shall depend upon employees being able to demonstrate that they made all reasonable efforts to attend work.
- 6.9.3. Provided that during the day in question the employee was able to attend work and they did not, no payment shall be provided for the day unless the employee utilises previously accrued leave other than Long Service Leave.

Example: An employee who cannot attend work due to water over the road at the employee's usual time of leaving their residence and later in the day the water resides which would allow the employee to attend work; the employee would be required to attend work when possible in order to receive payment for the full day.

- 6.9.4. This provision is not restricted to water over the road and shall apply to any reason that an employee cannot attend work.
- 6.9.5. Where an employee is able to attend any of the employer's administrative offices, depots or other such places the employee is required to do so. An employee attending such a workplace shall, if required, carry out duties that are commensurate with the employee's skill, training and experience even though the work required may not be the employee's normal work.

Example: Where an employee who lives at Gracemere and whose normal location for work is Rockhampton is prevented from attending work in Rockhampton due to flood waters, that employee will be required to present to the Gracemere office/depot at the usual commencement time and undertake work commensurate with their skills and abilities. Should it not be possible or practicable for that employee to undertake any work commensurate with their skills and abilities at the Gracemere office/depot they will be sent home and would then be eligible for the Natural Disaster Leave payment. Such employee is required to attend the Gracemere office/depot each ordinary workday morning to be eligible for the payment on subsequent days and until the flood waters recede sufficiently to allow access to Rockhampton.

6.9.6. Employees will not place themselves at risk in attempting to arrive at work to meet their obligations under the Natural Disaster Leave clauses.

7. WORKING ARRANGEMENTS

7.1. Fatigue Rest Provision

- 7.1.1. There shall be a ten (10) hour consecutive break between the conclusion of ordinary/overtime work on one day and the commencement of work on the next day, including weekends and public holidays, and shall be in accordance with the relevant award provisions, Monday to Sunday inclusive.
- 7.1.2. Where an employee has been required to work extended hours in response to a genuine work need and they consider they have not had reasonable rest prior to the commencement of the following workday, the following process is to apply:
 - The employee should contact their direct supervisor within 30 minutes prior to their normal start time, and advise of the work related issue they have attended to out of hours and the circumstances of why they do not feel adequately rested to commence duties.
 - The employee and supervisor should then make arrangement for the employee to recommence duties after they have had a reasonable rest period.
- 7.1.3. The employee shall be paid for any ordinary time lost as a result of being on a rest period and the time recorded as ordinary time.
- 7.1.4. In the situation where an employee is fatigued due to providing assistance to the community, for example, involvement in an emergency service or jury duty, the employee can seek an appropriate paid rest period from their supervisor.

Example: An employee is called out to a job at 11:00pm and performs work on the job until 4:00am, the employee is not required to present to work at the ordinary commencement time on that day; however, will be required to present to work at 2:00pm and will cease work at the ordinary finishing time and will be paid for that day as if that employee was in attendance for the whole ordinary work day.

7.2. End of Year Closedown

- 7.2.1. In line with providing ongoing services to rate payers, the employer shall determine which offices and depots shall remain open over the Christmas/New Year period. Determination shall be made on a business needs basis and may change from year to year. The employer shall inform relevant employees attached to offices/depots at least eight (8) weeks prior to the Christmas /New Year break if the office or depot is required to remain open.
- 7.2.2. Employees may use banked rostered days off, accrued annual leave, or else take the time off as unpaid leave.

7.3. Work/Life Balance

The Parties agree to support the concept of flexible working arrangements including provisions for job sharing arrangements, part time employment and agreed flexible working hours for employees with family responsibilities.

7.4. Time Off In Lieu of Payment for Overtime

- 7.4.1. An employee may elect, with the consent of the supervisor, to take time off in lieu (TOIL) of payment for overtime at a time or times agreed with the employer. Any such overtime taken as time off during ordinary time hours shall be taken at the ordinary time rate, that is, an hour for each hour worked.
- 7.4.2. The employer shall, if requested by an employee, provide payment, at the rate provided for the payment of overtime in the relevant Award for any overtime worked where such time has not been taken within four (4) weeks of accrual.
- 7.4.3. Where an employee has not approached the employer within four (4) weeks of the TOIL being worked the employer shall be entitled to direct the employee to take such accrued time off work with two (2) weeks' notice. Where the employer has directed the employee to take an amount of accrued TOIL, clause 7.4.2 of this Agreement shall have no effect.
- 7.4.4. Employees may elect to maintain an accrual of up to eight (8) hours TOIL to be accessible in emergent circumstances.

7.5. Make Up Time

- 7.5.1. An employee may elect, with the consent of the employer, to work "make-up" time, under which the employee takes time off ordinary hours and works those hours at a later time that is suitable to both the employer and the employee.
- 7.5.2. Where the employee chooses to work the "make-up" hours that would attract any Award penalty, overtime payment, allowance or loadings, these Award provisions shall have no effect for the "make-up" time worked.

7.6. Change in Work Location

- 7.6.1. Where an employee's normal work location is required to permanently change, except where it is customary for an employee to work in other locations to meet business and service delivery needs, the employee will be provided with one (1) months notice in writing. Individual circumstances will be taken into consideration as much as possible.
- 7.6.2. Where an employee considers that the permanent change will result in personal hardship and considers that the only option available is to seek early separation from the employer, the employee may request consideration of a separation payment equivalent to one and three quarter (1.75) weeks ordinary pay for each completed year of service plus other payments which they would normally be entitled to upon termination.
- 7.6.3. Separation payment will be capped at 18 weeks.

8. MISCELLANEOUS

8.1. Transmission of Business

8.1.1. Where the employer proposes to transmit to a new employer the business or any part of the business covered by this agreement the employer shall comply fully with the Termination Change and Redundancy Policy of the QIRC.

8.2. Employment Practices

8.2.1. For vacant positions, the commitment is to advertise internally. Where it is assessed that the skill level or resource may not be available in the employer's workforce, the position shall be advertised both internally and externally.

8.3. Redundancy/Retrenchment Arrangements

8.3.1. The redundancy/retrenchment arrangements are outlined in Appendix 1.

9. ALLOWANCES

9.1. On-Call Allowance

- 9.1.1. Employees directed to remain on call must be able to be contacted and be able to respond within a half-hour of being contacted, and must be 'fit for duty'.
- 9.1.2. An employee shall not be considered to be on call due solely to a customary/planned arrangement whereby the employee returns to the employer's premises outside hours to perform a specific job.
- 9.1.3. Employees covered by this clause shall no longer be entitled to any additional on-call allowance under their relevant Award for being on-call.

9.1.4. On Call – Monday to Friday

9.1.4.1. An employee required to remain on call during any day or night outside his/her ordinary working hours shall be paid an on-call allowance of \$15.80 for each day and/or night during which he/she remains on call, Monday to Friday only.

9.1.5. On Call – Saturday

9.1.5.1. Where an employee is directed to remain on call on Saturday, they shall be paid a sum equal to four (4) hours ordinary pay.

9.1.6. On Call – Sunday and Statutory Holidays

- 9.1.6.1. Where an employee is required to remain on call on any Sunday or statutory holiday they shall be paid, for each Sunday or statutory holiday, a sum of eight (8) hours at their ordinary rate.
- 9.1.6.2. In the case of statutory holidays only, the employee shall, in addition to clause 9.1.6.1, be credited for one (1) day's leave exclusive of leave loading.

9.2. Shift Allowance

9.2.1. In addition to the wage rates prescribed in this agreement, shift workers shall be paid a 15% allowance. The provisions of this clause shall be in accordance with the relevant Award.

9.3. Living Away Allowance

- 9.3.1. From time to time, an employee, given reasonable notice except in cases of an emergency, may be required to live away from home in order to perform their normal duties.
- 9.3.2. Such employee (other than apprentices) shall be entitled to the following:
 - a) The employer shall provide suitable transport between their home depot and the place of accommodation.
 - b) For the period that the employee works in such a location the place of accommodation shall be deemed as their home depot.
 - c) No employee shall be expected to stay away from home over weekends or public holidays that are more than one (1) day in duration.
 - d) The employer shall arrange and pay for suitable commercial/private accommodation near the work-site.
 - e) The employer shall reimburse the reasonable cost of three (3) meals a day during such work.
 - f) The employer shall pay an allowance of \$30.00 per day to cover the cost of any other incidental expenses whilst living away.
- 9.3.3. At the same time, all employees covered by this clause shall no longer be entitled to any allowance under their relevant Award for living away from home.

9.4. Exhumations Allowance

- 9.4.1. Persons engaged (including assistants) in the removals or exhumations of a body or bodies and/or body parts, shall be remunerated at double time with a minimum payment of four (4) hours. This payment is also applicable for:
 - a) Digging in water logged ground where human seepage is draining from other graves; or
 - b) Hammer and drill work Grave diggers engaged on hammer and drill work, using gads and moils, machine drills, pneumatic picks or mechanical picks; or
 - c) Re-opening graves later than six (6) days after burial and/or before six (6) months after burial; and
 - d) The physical action of needing to handle the remains or identification plaques within the confines of the grave.
- 9.4.2. Provided further that no less than four (4) persons should be employed on any exhumation and/or removal of a person over eight (8) years of age; nor shall less than two (2) persons be employed on the exhumation and/or removal of children between the ages of two (2) and eight (8) years.
- 9.4.3. Provided that where ground conditions warrant it, not less than two (2) persons shall be employed on reopening graves which are required to be sunk more than 2.13 metres.
- 9.4.4. All employees engaged upon digging graves in waterlogged ground shall be supplied with suitable rubber boots by the employer, as well as all other personal protective equipment required to carry out the function/s in a safe manner.

9.5. First Aid Allowance

- 9.5.1. An employee who is appointed by the employer as a First Aid Attendant in their given work area and is the current holder of an appropriate first aid qualification shall be paid a \$14.40 weekly allowance. This payment shall be dependent upon the First Aid Attendant complying with the requirements of the position.
- 9.5.2. At the same time, all employees covered by this clause shall no longer be entitled to any allowance under their relevant Award for being a first-aider.

9.6. Meal Allowance During Overtime

- 9.6.1. An employee shall be supplied with a reasonable meal at the employer's expense or be paid \$16.40, at all paid meal breaks prescribed in the relevant Award. This allowance shall be reviewed annually from the date of the vote in accordance with CPI (Brisbane September Quarter).
- 9.6.2. At the same time, all employees covered by this clause shall no longer be entitled to any allowance under their relevant Award for meals.

9.7. Repair of Unclean Vehicles and Plant Allowance

9.7.1. Employees who are engaged in the repair of the bodies of vehicles and plant used as sanitary or rubbish vehicles or vehicles used to transport tar and bitumen where such vehicles and plant have not been thoroughly cleaned down immediately before work on such repairs is commenced, shall be paid an allowance of \$1.15 per hour in addition to the weekly rate when engaged in such work.

9.8. Live Sewer

- 9.8.1. The parties agree that for the purposes of claiming any relevant 'Live Sewer Allowance' the correct and intended definition of live sewer exposure is those employees who are working in direct physical contact with live sewerage or direct aerial contact with live sewerage work.
- 9.8.2. Live sewer allowance shall be paid at the rate of time and a half for all relevant employees.
- 9.8.3. For the avoidance of doubt for 'direct aerial contact' to apply, the following criteria must be met:
 - a) The employee must be working in direct support of another employee who is directly physically exposed to live sewerage and only for the period that the direct physical exposure exists; and

- b) The work requires the employee to be in direct physical contact with tools, parts or fittings that are being used for the live sewerage work at that time; and/or
- c) The employee would have to place some part of their body into the excavation or other space where the direct physical exposure is occurring for them to properly and safely complete the assigned task.
- 9.8.4. The payment of the allowance applies only for the period that the above criteria are being met and immediate clean-up at the worksite where the exposure occurs.
- 9.8.5. Employees who are on any day required to carry out work in connections with the release of blockages in sewerage lines, septic tanks and connections thereto shall be paid not less than four (4) hours at the appropriate rates.
- 9.8.6. Not-withstanding the above, the Parties recognize that the above has not been properly applied for Fitzroy River Water, Network only employees of the previous Rockhampton City Council for many years. Therefore the employer agrees to accept claims in accordance with the current practice for those and only those employees who were employed by Fitzroy River Water, Network Section on 14 March, 2008. This entitlement shall only apply to those employees until such time as those employees cease to be employees of Council or they take up a different role within Council. To remove any doubt, the employees who shall retain this entitlement shall be identified by name in an exchange of letters between the parties prior to certification of the Agreement and each employee shall be notified in writing.
- 9.8.7. The allowance shall be calculated using the base rate applicable and not any annualised 'All Purpose Rate' that might apply for other purposes in accordance with the terms of this Agreement.

9.9. Working with Synthetic Fluids and Oils Allowance

9.9.1. Employees employed in the classification of mechanic, fitter, or service person who, in their day to day duties, are exposed to synthetic oils fluids and coolants in the maintenance and repair of power steering units, braking systems, automatic transmissions and/or air conditioning units, shall be paid an extra allowance of \$0.35c for each hour worked with such substances.

9.10. Working in the Rain

- 9.10.1. Working in the rain shall only occur if it is essential as determined by line management.
- 9.10.2. Where people are required to work in the rain, they shall be issued with wet weather gear to protect their clothing. Where wet weather gear has been issued, the employee must have it available for use. At the end of the task, the employee, where practicable, may return home to change into dry clothing (including appropriate footwear) and return to work.
- 9.10.3. Where an employee is required to perform work in the rain and by so doing gets their clothing wet they shall be paid double rates for all work so performed. Such payment shall continue until the employee finishes work or until the clothing dries or is able to be changed whichever is earlier.
- 9.10.4. An employee entitled to an additional payment pursuant to this allowance shall not be entitled to any additional payment for Wet Places. At the same time, all employees covered by this clause shall no longer be entitled to any allowance under their relevant award for working in rain.
- 9.10.5. Where employees are unable to carry out their normal duties due to natural events and are not required for urgent work, they agree to actively participate in relevant training or other productive activity.

9.11. Annualised Allowances

- 9.11.1. In recognition of the cost of processing allowances, which are otherwise applicable under relevant Awards, it is agreed that the following allowances be annualised. These allowances shall be incorporated within the pay classification structure however are not reflected in the remuneration schedule in Appendix 2.
- 9.11.2. The annualised rate, which incorporates the annualised allowances, shall be referred to as the 'All Purpose Rate' and shall be used for the calculation of superannuation and leave benefits.

9.11.3. Site Allowance

This clause covers the following allowances:

- "Construction, reconstruction, alteration, repair and/or maintenance work Allowance", "Disability Allowance – rubbish dumps", "Wet Places Allowance", "Quarry Allowance" as prescribed in the Local Government Employees' (excluding Brisbane City Council) Award – State 2003.
- "Construction Allowance", "Dirty Work Allowance", "Repair Work Allowance" as prescribed in the Engineering Award State 2002.
- "Dirty Work Allowance", "Wet Work Allowance" as prescribed in the Building Trades Public Sector Award – State 2002.

The employer, in recognising the continuing nature of these general disability allowances to all employees covered by the Local Government Employees Award (Excluding Brisbane City Council) Award – State 2003, Building Trades Public Sector Award – State 2002 and Engineering Award – State 2002, agrees to annualise this allowance.

The employer shall hereby include within the classification structure the payment of \$30.00 per week for all staff covered by the Local Government Employees Award (Excluding Brisbane City Council) Award – State 2003, Building Trades Public Sector Award – State 2002 and Engineering Award – State 2002. At the same time all employees covered by this clause shall no longer be entitled to claim the abovementioned allowances.

9.11.4. Toilet Cleaning Allowance

The employer, in recognising the continuing nature of this allowances to all employees covered by the Local Government Employees Award (Excluding Brisbane City Council) Award – State 2003, agrees to annualise this allowance.

Employees required to clean toilets, other than merely by hosing them shall be paid an allowance at the rate of \$5.50 per day. At the same time all employees covered by this clause shall no longer be entitled to claim the abovementioned allowances.

9.11.5. Tool Allowance

The employer, in recognising the continuing nature of the "Tool Allowance" paid to all employees engaged under the Local Government Employees Award (Excluding Brisbane City Council) Award – State 2003, Building Trades Public Sector Award – State 2002 and Engineering Award – State 2002, agrees to annualise this allowance whilst such employees continue to supply their own tools.

The employer shall hereby include within the classification structure the payment of \$30.00 per week for the following trades' staff:

- Mechanics
- Fitters
- Plumber/Drainers
- Drainers
- Electricians
- Form setters
- Carpenters

Apprentices in all disciplines shall be provided tools to the value of the full tool allowance at the commencement of their apprenticeship. All tools shall remain the property of the employer until the date of completion of the apprenticeship when ownership shall transfer to the employee. In the event of an apprentice leaving the employer's employ prior to completing the apprenticeship, the Apprentice shall be given a pro-rata allocation of tools upon termination.

At the same time, all employees covered by this clause shall no longer be entitled to any allowance under their relevant Award for providing tools.

9.11.6. Rubbish and Sanitary Allowance

The employer, in recognising the continuing nature of the "rubbish and sanitary operations allowance" paid to employees engaged as drivers of rubbish vehicles and their assistants under the Local Government Employees Award (Excluding Brisbane City Council) Award – State 2003, agrees to annualise this allowance.

The employer shall hereby include within the classification structure the payment of \$91.58 per week for all staff covered by this clause. This payment encompasses the cleaning of rubbish and sanitary vehicles. At the same time all employees covered by this clause shall no longer be entitled to claim the abovementioned rubbish and sanitary operations allowance.

9.11.7. Leading Hand Allowance

The employer, in recognising the continuing nature of "Leading Hand Allowance" paid to employees engaged under the Local Government Employees Award (Excluding Brisbane City Council) Award – State 2003, Building Trades Public Sector Award – State 2002 and Engineering Award – State 2002, agrees to annualise this allowance.

The employer shall hereby include within the classification structure a weekly payment for all staff covered by this clause as per the below table. This table is based on the complexities, responsibilities and accountabilities of the various Team Leader/Leading Hand positions that are present across the Council's operational and construction areas as described in Appendix 4.

Team Leader/Leading Hand Classification	Weekly Allowance
Maintenance/minor construction	\$32.00
Standard – Construction	\$42.00
Complex/Difficult Construction	\$64.00

Note: Such positions are classified as per the Team Leader/Leading Hand Matrix and this is based on

- Level of staff management, i.e. size of crews;
- Level of responsibility/accountability, i.e. quantity and complexity of work undertaken by crews supervised; and
- Adherence to relevant legislation and technical requirements.

At the same time all employees covered by this clause shall no longer be entitled to claim the abovementioned allowance under the respective Awards.

9.11.8. Fares and Travelling Allowance

The employer shall make the payment of \$57.50 per week "Fares and Travelling Allowance" to staff covered by the Building Trades Public Sector Award – State 2002.

For the avoidance of doubt the allowance shall not be paid to employees who are provided a company vehicle to travel to and between work locations.

The Parties recognise that the above has not been properly applied for employees of the previous the employers for many years. Therefore, the employer agrees to accept claims in accordance with the current practice for those and only those employees, who were employed under the Building Trades Public Sector Award – State 2002 on 14 March, 2008. This entitlement shall only apply to those employees until such time as those employees cease to be employees of the employer or they take up a different role within the employer. To remove any doubt, the employees who shall retain this entitlement shall be identified by name in an exchange of letters between the parties prior to certification of this Agreement and each employee shall be notified in writing.

9.12. Travel Costs

- 9.12.1. The employer shall provide all transport between an employee's normal work depot and the daily work site, where possible.
- 9.12.2. Where an employee is required to report directly to the job site, which is within 10 km of their normal depot, the employee shall travel by their own means and in their own time.

9.12.3. The employer shall pay the applicable car mileage (as per the Australian Taxation Office Standard) for distances in excess of 10km.

Note: The 10km referred to in this clause denotes 10km travelling distance by the most direct and practical route and applies to travel in both directions, that is, 10km to work location and 10km returning from work location.

9.13. Multi-Skilled Allowance

- 9.13.1. Where an employee within a classification level of the Local Government Employees' (excluding Brisbane City Council) Award State 2003 is recognised, and utilised on a regular basis, by the employer as having three or more individually identified skills and the position description only mandates one of those skills to meet the criteria for that classification level, that employee shall receive an allowance of \$15.00 per week.
- 9.13.2. Further details on skills applicable to those employees covered by the Local Government Employees' (excluding Brisbane City Council) Award State 2003 are contained in Appendix 4 to this Agreement.

9.14. Mixed Function

- 9.14.1. Where an employee is directed by the employer to undertake responsibilities at a higher level they shall be paid at the higher classification level as follows:
 - a) For a period of up to one (1) hour there will be no payment.
 - b) For a period greater than one (1) hour and up to four (4) hours the actual time in control of that vehicle/plant in increments of one (1) hour.
 - c) For a period of greater than four (4) hours in one (1) working day the total hours worked on that day.

Note: To avoid confusion, the time referred to is the clock time from when the employee first operates that vehicle/plant on that day until the employee ceases to operate that plant/vehicle on that day provided there has not been a period of greater than two (2) hours when the employee has not operated that vehicle/plant. Operates include pre-start checks and any required operator's maintenance activities.

10. UNION REPRESENTATION

10.1. Union Recognition

- 10.1.1. This Agreement recognises the Union parties to this Agreement and their accredited representatives as legitimate representatives of employees covered by this Agreement.
- 10.1.2. The Parties acknowledge that structured, collective industrial relations shall continue as a fundamental principle of the employer.

10.2. Responsibilities and Rights of Union Delegates

- 10.2.1. Organisers or other officials shall have the following responsibilities when dealing with the employees of the employer:
 - Minimise disruption associated with union consultation.
 - Provide reasonable notice to line management prior to holding discussions with employees. Reasonable notice shall mean notice that minimises disruption to any scheduled work program.
 - Ensure management are aware of issues early to encourage speedy rectification.
 - To understand and recognise the legitimate business obligations of Council while seeking the best possible arrangements for their members.
- 10.2.2. Union Delegates shall be afforded the following rights:
 - To be treated fairly and to perform their role as Union Delegate without any discrimination in their employment.

- To formal recognition by the employer that endorsed Union Delegates speak on behalf of union members in the workplace on matters relating to applicable industrial legislation and industrial instruments.
- To bargain collectively on behalf of those they represent.
- To consultation and access to reasonable information about the workplace and the business.
- To reasonable paid time to represent the interest of members to the employer and industrial tribunals.
- To reasonable paid time during normal working hours to consult with Union members following management approval.
- To reasonable paid time, at ordinary rates, to participate in the operation of the Union that is specific to the
 employer.
- To reasonable access to telephone, facsimile, photocopying, internet and e-mail facilities for the purpose of carrying out work as a Delegate and consulting with workplace colleagues and the Union.
- To place Union information relevant to employees on a notice board in a prominent location in the workplace, without displacing other business critical communication.

10.3. Trade Union Training Leave

- 10.3.1. Upon application to their manager, a union workplace delegate shall be granted up to five (5) working days leave on ordinary pay each calendar year, non-cumulative, to attend courses and seminars conducted by or approved by the respective Union, provided that the employer is not involved in any other costs except for the payment of extra remuneration where relieving arrangements are instituted to cover the absence of the employee.
- 10.3.2. The granting of such leave shall be subject to the employer's convenience and shall not unduly affect the operation of the employer.
- 10.3.3. The scope, content and level of the course shall be such as to contribute to a better understanding of industrial relations.
- 10.3.4. The union shall notify the employer well in advance of upcoming courses.

10.4. Right of Entry

10.4.1. An official or officer of the Unions shall have the right to enter the employer's establishment during working hours for the purposes of conducting appropriate union business, provided that there shall be minimal disruption to work by the representative of the union membership, and as long as the Union official has notified the appropriate management that they are attending the workplace.

10.5. Access to Union Officials

10.5.1. The employer shall allow unrestricted access by its employees during normal workings hours to accredited officials of the Union parties to this Agreement, with prior approval from the General Manager or their nominee.

10.6. Union Fees Paid by Payroll Deduction

10.6.1. The employer shall provide a payroll deduction scheme for any employees who wish to have their union fees deducted from their payroll.

10.7. Access and Facilities

- 10.7.1. The following facilities shall be made available to the parties involved in any consultative forum set up in accordance with this Agreement:
 - Reasonable access to facilities and administrative support/equipment such as word processing, photocopying, postal system internal mail, telephone, storage facilities and meeting rooms.

• Access to a room with normal office facilities shall be provided for representatives of the parties to discuss matters associated with consultative forums established under this Agreement.

11. NO EXTRA CLAIMS

- 11.1.1. The Parties agree that, in the life of this Agreement, no extra claims shall be sought.
- 11.1.2. The Parties shall not, other than is provided in clause 1.3 Date and Period of Operation, pursue any extra claims for changes in relation to matters dealt with by this Agreement.

APPENDIX 1 – REDUNDANCY/RETRENCHMENT ARRANGEMENTS

1. Application

This Agreement shall operate in respect of all employees of the employer and whose positions have been declared redundant.

2. Definitions

- (a) Redeployment Is a process of transferring employees to alternative positions within the employer, where their existing position has been declared redundant.
- (b) Retraining Includes an analysis of employees' current skills, knowledge and abilities for the purpose of developing an individual training plan to facilitate the employee's redeployment.
- (c) Redundancy A position becomes redundant when the employer's need for work or the quantity of work of a particular kind has diminished or ceased.
- (d) Involuntary Retrenchment Means the termination (at the initiative of management) of employment of employees who are in redundant positions, and who are unable to be redeployed.
- (e) Ordinary Rate of Pay Shall mean the employee's current ordinary hourly rate of pay.
- (f) Actual Rate of Pay Shall mean the ordinary rate of pay as at the date of redeployment.
- (g) Continuous Service As defined in the Local Government Employees' (excluding Brisbane City Council) Award State 2003.

3. Objectives

- 3.1. The chief objectives of this Appendix are:
 - To maintain, where possible, employees whose positions have become redundant in continued employment within the employer;
 - To retrain such employees where necessary;
 - To pay monetary compensation to such employees who are unable to be redeployed and whose employment is to be terminated (compensation by way of a redundancy benefit is compensation for loss of job security and it is not a resignation benefit);
 - To assist employees to find employment outside the service of the employer.

4. Notice Period

4.1. Notice of Redundant Position

Notice of redundant position means the formal advice to the employee that their position is to become redundant. Any employees whose positions are to be made redundant, and if requested by the employee their Unions representative, shall receive formal notification of impending redundancy as soon as possible.

4.2. Notice of Involuntary Retrenchment

- (a) Notice of involuntary retrenchment means the notice to an employee that their services are terminated as a result of their position being made redundant and redeployment not being achieved at the time of this notice being issued. In such circumstances, employees shall receive notice at least eight (8) weeks before the event.
- (b) Where the date of involuntary retrenchment has been advised in the notice of redundant position, it shall not be necessary to issue a notice of involuntary retrenchment.

5. Consultation with Relevant Unions

- 5.1. Where a decision has been made that a position or positions are to become redundant, the employer shall, at the earliest practicable time, provide all relevant details to the Union/s concerned and arrange discussions with the Union/s.
- 5.2. Relevant details to be provided to the Unions shall include:
 - the reasons for the position or positions being redundant;
 - the number, classification, location and details of the redundant positions;
 - presentation of an organisational plan of the work unit concerned.
- 5.3. Discussions with the Union/s shall include:
 - the method of identifying positions as redundant, having regard to the efficient and economical working of that enterprise;
 - advice and the timing of that advice to the employees.

6. Exceptions

- 6.1. This arrangement shall not apply in any of the following circumstances:
 - (a) Where an employee terminates employment before the expiration of the period of notice without prior approval of the employer, which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld; or
 - (b) Where an employee suffers a permanent injury or illness which renders that employee otherwise incapable of continuing in employment; or
 - (c) Where an employee's services are terminated by reason of neglect of duty or misconduct; or
 - (d) Where an employee has been engaged in a casual capacity or on a short term basis, such as project employment; or
 - (e) Where an employee has not been engaged for a continuous period of at least twelve (12) months.

7. Dispute Resolution Procedure

7.1. Grievances arising from this section shall be dealt with in terms of the Dispute Resolution Process outlined in clause 3.3 of this Agreement.

8. Redeployment

- 8.1. The employer shall endeavour to find suitable alternative employment within the employer's organisation. All affected employees shall be individually interviewed to determine what options may exist for their retraining by the employer.
- 8.2. Where suitable alternative employment is found for an employee at a classification with a lower rate of pay, that employee shall continue to receive, as a minimum for all work performed, the actual rate of pay for the classification held at the time of transfer for a period of twelve (12) months or until the rate for the lower classification exceeds that actual rate, whichever is the earlier.
- 8.3. Employees who are transferred to other positions shall be eligible for redundancy benefits should it be found, within three (3) months, by either themselves or the employer that the alternative position is unsatisfactory.
- 8.4. Should an employee not accept a suitable redeployment position and opt to take their redundancy, they are not eligible to apply for that vacancy, should it be advertised externally, within a six (6) month period of becoming redundant.

9. Redundancy/Retrenchment

9.1. Upon a determination by the employer that an employee's position has become redundant and redeployment cannot be achieved, such employee shall receive notice of involuntary retrenchment and be eligible to apply for an Early Separation Incentive Payment in accordance with clause 10 of this Appendix.

- 9.2. The Chief Executive Officer may, at his/her discretion, invite applications from employees for voluntary retrenchment. Persons whose applications for voluntary retrenchment are accepted by the Chief Executive Officer shall be entitled to receive all eligible redundancy benefits at the point of termination.
- 9.3. Persons whose applications for voluntary retrenchment have been accepted are eligible to apply for ESIP in accordance with clause 10 of this Appendix. Employees, who receive voluntary retrenchment, shall be given notice at least eight (8) weeks before their date of departure.
- 9.4. On termination, eligible employees shall receive a redundancy payment at a rate appropriate to the completed years of service. This redundancy payment is to consist of three (3) weeks payment per year of continuous service in Queensland Local Government as well as a proportionate amount for an incomplete year of service. The employee must receive as a minimum an amount equal to the employee's salary for four (4) weeks.
- 9.5. Eligible employees are those for whom
 - (a) suitable alternative employment cannot be found; or
 - (b) whose application for voluntary retrenchment under clause 10 of this Appendix has been accepted; and
 - (c) who have at least one (1) years' service.
- 9.6. In addition to the redundancy payment, an employee who has completed one (1) year's continuous service shall be entitled on termination to a long service leave payment in accordance with this Agreement at the ordinary rate of pay for each completed year of service, and a proportionate amount of an incomplete year of service, less any long service leave already taken.
- 9.7. Providing each case has the prior approval of the employee's supervisor, leave with pay shall be granted for the purpose of attending personal employment interviews. This subclause only applies to employees whose positions have been declared redundant.
- 9.8. Each employee whose position has been declared redundant shall be given a statement showing the calculation of an estimate of the redundancy payment at least 28 days before possible termination date.
- 9.9. The employer shall meet financial planning costs of a one-off payment up to \$500.00 for any employee subject to retrenchment. A refund shall be given to the employee upon presentation of the account or, with prior agreement, the account can be sent directly to the employer for payment.

10. Early Separation Incentive Payment (ESIP)

- 10.1. The Early Separation Incentive Payment (ESIP) consists of eight (8) weeks incentive payment in addition to all other payments that comprise a redundancy package under the terms of this Agreement. This incentive payment shall be calculated at the ordinary rate of pay.
- 10.2. The ESIP for voluntary and involuntary retrenchment is designed to enable employees to elect to leave the service of the employer, prior to the date of retrenchment, thereby waiving their entitlement to eight (8) weeks notice.
- 10.3. To be eligible for an ESIP, an employee must have completed at least one (1) year of service.
- 10.4. Employees who express an interest in participating in the ESIP scheme shall be required to submit an application within 28 calendar days of the employer's notice of redundant position. This 28 day period shall run concurrently with the eight (8) week notice period. Any late applications for ESIP received after the 28 days' notice period shall reduce the eight (8) weeks ESIP proportionately by the amount of time (in whole days) that applications for ESIP are received after the 28-day time limit.
- 10.5. The employer may reject applications if acceptance would be detrimental to the employer's operations.
- 10.6. The employer may at its discretion terminate employment before the expiration of the notice period by making payment in lieu of the required notice.

11. Relocation Expenses

11.1. Should an employee become redundant within a period of two (2) years of commencement of their employment, they shall not be required to repay removal expenses, they would otherwise have to repay under the employer's removal expenses policy/procedures.

APPENDIX 2 – REMUNERATION CLASSIFICATION STRUCTURE

- * Please note that the rates listed below are base rates only and do not include any allowances, annualised or otherwise.
- ** Decimals for annum figures have been rounded up/down accordingly.

	Current 15/12/201	as at 1	As at 16/1 Plus 4%	2/2011	As at 16/1 Plus 3.5%		As at 16/1 Plus 3.5%	
Classification	Weekly	Annual	Weekly	Annual	Weekly	Annual	Weekly	Annual
Local Government Employees								
LAE Level 1 <18 yrs	\$555.89	\$28,906	\$578.13	\$30,063	\$598.36	\$31,115	\$619.30	\$32,204
LAE Level 1 <6mth Serv	\$824.38	\$42,868	\$857.36	\$44,582	\$887.36	\$46,143	\$918.42	\$47,758
LAE Level 1 >6mths Serv	\$838.11	\$43,582	\$871.63	\$45,325	\$902.14	\$46,911	\$933.72	\$48,553
LAE Level 2	\$851.84	\$44,296	\$885.91	\$46,068	\$916.92	\$47,680	\$949.01	\$49,349
LAE Level 3	\$865.56	\$45,009	\$900.18	\$46,809	\$931.69	\$48,448	\$964.30	\$50,143
LAE Level 4	\$879.41	\$45,729	\$914.59	\$47,558	\$946.60	\$49,223	\$979.73	\$50,946
LAE Level 5	\$895.78	\$46,581	\$931.61	\$48,444	\$964.22	\$50,139	\$997.97	\$51,894
LAE Level 6	\$924.49	\$48,073	\$961.47	\$49,996	\$995.12	\$51,746	\$1,029.9 5	\$53,557
LAE Level 7	\$953.77	\$49,596	\$991.92	\$51,580	\$1,026.6 4	\$53,385	\$1,062.5 7	\$55,254
LAE Level 8	\$982.11	\$51,070	\$1,021.3 9	\$53,113	\$1,057.1 4	\$54,971	\$1,094.1 4	\$56,895
LAE Level 9	\$1,012.6 2	\$52,656	\$1,053.1 2	\$54,762	\$1,089.9 8	\$56,679	\$1,128.1 3	\$58,663
Building Trades								
Build Trade Level 1	\$895.78	\$46,581	\$931.61	\$48,444	\$964.22	\$50,139	\$997.97	\$51,894
Build Trade Level 2	\$924.49	\$48,073	\$961.47	\$49,996	\$995.12	\$51,746	\$1,029.9 5	\$53,557
D 1117 1 1 1 2	Φ052.77	Φ40.50¢	Φ001.00	Φ51.500	\$1,026.6	Φ52.205	\$1,062.5	Φ55.254
Build Trade Level 3 Engineering	\$953.77	\$49,596	\$991.92	\$51,580	4	\$53,385	7	\$55,254
C10 Tradesperson	\$895.78	\$46,581	\$931.61	\$48,444	\$964.22	\$50,139	\$997.97	\$51,894
C9 Tradesperson	\$924.49	\$48,073	\$961.47	\$49,996	\$995.12	\$51,746	\$1,029.9 5	\$53,557
•					\$1,026.6		\$1,062.5	
C8 Tradesperson	\$953.77	\$49,596	\$991.92	\$51,580	4	\$53,385	7	\$55,254
C7 Tradesperson	\$982.11	\$51,070	\$1,021.3 9	\$53,113	\$1,057.1 4	\$54,971	\$1,094.1 4	\$56,895
Tradespersons Assistant	φ302.11	φ31,070	2	φυυ,110	1	ψυτ,7/1	7	ψυυ,070
(C12)	\$824.38	\$42,868	\$857.36	\$44,582	\$887.36	\$46,143	\$918.42	\$47,758
Tradespersons Assistant (C13)	\$793.01	\$41,237	\$824.73	\$42,886	\$853.60	\$44,387	\$883.47	\$45,941

APPENDIX 3 - MULTI-SKILLED ALLOWANCE

1. Typical Duties by Similar Levels

1.1. As referenced in clause 9.16, the following tasks as prescribed in the Local Government Employees' (excluding Brisbane City Council) Award – State 2003 will form the basis for the criteria for the payment of the multi-skilled allowance, where relevant and applicable.

1.1.1. Level 1

Basic labouring tasks;

Basic operational or maintenance tasks associated with cemeteries, depots or swimming pools;

Driving a rigid motor vehicle up to 4.5t GVM;

Cleaning, caretaking, basic hospitality tasks related to serving of drinks and cooking.

1.1.2. Level 2

Surveyors Chainperson Grade II;

General gardening duties;

General sewerage or water maintenance work;

Assisting rubbish or sanitary vehicle drivers;

Bitumen, asphalt, concrete work;

Operation of a variety of hand held power tools or machinery (including motor mowers);

Driving a rigid motor vehicle exceeding 4.5t GVM up to 11t GVM.

1.1.3. Level 3

Surveyor's Chainperson Grade I;

Supervision of refuse tip (tip master);

Skilled gardening work (e.g. grafting, propagating);

Driving a rigid motor vehicle exceeding 11t GVM up to 15t GVM;

Store operations;

Operation of small ride-on equipment or light mechanical plant;

Operation of light mechanical plant including;

- o Ride-on mower/tractor with implements,
- o Motor vehicles with capacity exceeding 6.08t,
- o Pneumatic tyred tractor without powered attachments up to 70 KW,
- o Pneumatic tyred tractor with powered attachments up to 35 KW,
- o Crawler tractor without powered attachments up to 4,536 kgs,
- o Crawler tractor with powered attachments up to 2,721 kgs,
- o Powered vibrating road roller up to 4 tonne,
- o Pneumatic tyred powered road roller up to 8 tonne,
- o Steel wheeled powered road roller up to 8 tonne,
- Pile driving machine,
- o Motor mower driver cemeteries;

Pipelaying, concrete finishing, scaffolding.

1.1.4. Level 4

General by-laws enforcement (with relevant experience);

Grave digging;

Beach inspector (second 6 months of experience);

Operation of forklifts and hydraulic mobile platforms;

Surveyor's Instrument Hand;

Driving a rigid motor vehicle (truck tractor) and heavy trailer combination (trailer having loaded mass of 3.5t or more) not exceeding 22.5t GCM;

Driving an articulated vehicle (with 3 axles) not exceeding 24t GCM;

Dogman;

Rigger:

Forklift Driver;

Large Ride on mower exceeding 12 hp;

Drivers of rigid motor vehicle exceeding 15 GVM;

Skid steer loader exceeding 2000 cc.

1.1.5. Level 5

Parking meter maintenance;

Supervisory by-law enforcement activities;

Qualified Cook;

Assist in the operation of a Water Treatment Plant;

Horticulturalist (trade qualified);

Driving a rigid motor vehicle (truck tractor) and heavy trailer combination (trailer having loaded mass of 3.5t or more) exceeding 22.5t GCM;

Driving an articulated vehicle (with 3 axles) exceeding 24t GCM;

Driving a low loader not exceeding 43t GCM;

Earthmoving equipment serviceman;

Operation of medium mechanical plant including;

- Backhoe
- Street sweeping machine,
- o Single unit grader up to 35 KW,
- Scraper loader up to 10 cubic metre capacity,
- o Excavator up to .5 cubic metre capacity,
- o Front-end or overhead loader up to 2.25 cubic metre capacity,
- o Pneumatic tyred tractor without powered attachment over 70 KW,
- o Pneumatic tyred tractor with powered attachment 35 to 110 KW,
- o Crawler tractor without powered attachment over 4,535 kgs shipping weight,
- o Crawler tractor with powered attachment 2,721 to 18,143 kgs shipping weight,
- o Powered vibrating road roller over 4 tonne,
- o Pneumatic tyred powered road roller over 8 tonne,
- o Steel wheeled powered road roller over 8 tonne,
- o Mobile crane up to 15 tonne.

Formsetter

Bridge carpenter

1.1.6. Level 6

Operation of primary treatment plants;

Co-ordination of by-laws, monitoring and enforcement operation;

Driving a rigid motor vehicle (truck tractor) and heavy trailer(s) combination (trailer having loaded mass of 3.5t or more) exceeding 42.5t GCM;

Driving an articulated or double articulated vehicle exceeding 42.5t GCM;

Operation of heavy mechanical plant including;

- Single unit grader over 35 KW,
- o Scraper loader over 10 cubic metre capacity,
- Excavator over .5 cubic metres,
- o Front-end or overhead loader over 2.25 cubic metres,
- o Pneumatic tyred tractor with powered attachment over 110 KW,
- o Crawler tractor with powered attachment over 18,143 kgs shipping weight,
- o Mobile crane 15 to 100 tonne.

Assist in the operation of a sewerage treatment plant

Driving a low loader exceeding 43t GVM

APPENDIX 4 - TEAM LEADER/LEADING HAND MATRIX

- 1.1. The Team Leader / Leading Hand matrix consists of numerous descriptors that have a percentage weighting attached to each descriptor.
- 1.2. By the end of the months of May and November each year a review of the matrix and the data contained within will be conducted by PPW in conjunction with the relevant supervisor and manager. The purpose of these reviews is to ensure that any changes are up to date and reflected within the matrix and the relativity to the various Team Leader / Leading Hand classifications are maintained.
- 1.3. The descriptors and their weightings are listed below;

Team Leader / Leading Hand Descriptor	Percentage Weighting
Average expenditure per day	25
Isolation – geographical and level of autonomy	5
Public relations responsibilities	5
Safety and environmental legislation responsibilities	15
Level of autonomy	10
Qualifications required for the position	5
Organisational risk	15
Compliance with Quality Assurance system	10
Total amount of employees supervised	10

SIGNATORIES

Signed for and on behalf of Rockhampton Regional Council In the presence of	
Signed for and on behalf of the Automotive, Metals, Engineering, Printing and Kindred Industries Industrial Union of Employees, Queensland In the presence of:	
Signed for and on behalf of The Australian Workers' Union of Employees, Queensland In the presence of:	_
Signed for and on behalf of The Construction, Forestry, Mining and Energy, Industrial Union of Employees, Queensland	
Signed for and on behalf of the Federated Engine Drivers' and Firemens' Association of Queensland, Union of Employees In the presence of:	
Signed for and on behalf of The Electrical Trades Union of Employees Queensland In the presence of:	•
Signed for and on behalf of the Plumbers & Gasfitters Employees' Union Queensland, Union of Employees In the presence of:	
Signed for and on behalf of the Transport Workers' Union of Employees (Queensland Branch) In the presence of:	C